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. For the quarterly period ended

May 31, 2018

. SEC Identification Number

12942

. BIR Tax Identification No.

000-104-320-000

. Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter
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. Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization

Manila, Philippines

. Industry Classification Code(SEC Use Only)

. Address of principal office

4th Floor Citibank Center, Paseo de Roxas, Makati City
Postal Code
1227

. Issuer's telephone number, including area code

632-8314479

. Former name or former address, and former fiscal year, if changed since last report

10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the SRC or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA

Title of Each Class Number of Shares of Common Stock Outstanding and Amount of Debt Outstanding
Common 2,969,088,599

11. Are any or all of registrant's securities listed on a Stock Exchange?

Yes No
If yes, state the name of such stock exchange and the classes of securities listed therein:

Philippine Stock exchange

12. Indicate by check mark whether the registrant:

(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule 17 thereunder
or Sections 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 and 141 of the
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Corporation Code of the Philippines, during the preceding twelve (12) months (or for such shorter
period that the registrant was required to file such reports)

Yes No

(b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days
Yes No

The Exchange does not warrant and holds no responsibility for the veracity of the facts and representations contained in all corporate
disclosures, including financial reports. All data contained herein are prepared and submitted by the disclosing party to the Exchange,
and are disseminated solely for purposes of information. Any questions on the data contained herein should be addressed directly to
the Corporate Information Officer of the disclosing party.

Marcventures Holdings, Inc.
MARC

PSE Disclosure Form 17-2 - Quarterly Report
References: SRC Rule 17 and
Sections 17.2 and 17.8 of the Revised Disclosure Rules

For the period ended Mar 31, 2018

Currency (indicate
units, if applicable) PHP

Balance Sheet

Period Ended Fiscal Year Ended (Audited)
Mar 31, 2018 Dec 31, 2017
Current Assets 701,064,992 645,861,140
Total Assets 5,368,051,904 5,316,113,360
Current Liabilities 621,802,073 444,607,448

Total Liabilities

Retained
Earnings/(Deficit)

Stockholders' Equity
Stockholders' Equity - Parent
Book Value per Share

Income Statement

1,285,223,676
838,344,761

4,082,828,228
4,078,894,753
1.38

1,108,188,218
963,441,676

4,207,925,142
4,023,049,894
1.59

Current Year Previous Year .
(3 Months) (3 Months) Current Year-To-Date @ Previous Year-To-Date
Gross Revenue 0 51,163,200 0 51,163,200
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SEC FORM 17-Q
MARCVENTURES HOLDINGS, INC

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
SEC FORM 17-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 OF THE SECURITIES
REGULATION CODE AND SRC RULE 17(2)(b) THEREUNDER

1. Faor the quarterly period ended: March 31, 2018

Z. Commission identification number 12942

3. BIR Tax ldentification No, 470-000-104-320

4. Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter: MARCVENTURES HOLDINGS INC.
5. Province, country or ather jurisdiction of incorporation or organization: PHILIPPINES

6. Industry Classification Code: K (SEC Use Only)

7. Address of registrant's principal office:

Unit 4-3 Citibank Center Cond.
8741 Paseo de Roxas , Makati City

8. Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (63 2) B31-4479
5. Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report. N A,
10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA

Title of each Class Mumber of Shares of Common Stock
Outstanding and Amount of Debt

Qutstanding
Common Stock {R1.00 parvalue)  2,969,088,599 shares

11. Are any or all of the securities listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange?
Yes. The common shares are listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange.
Note: only 1,821,327,687 are listed with PSE

12. Indicate by check mark whether the registrant:

(a] has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the Code and SRC Rule 17 thereunder or
Sections 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule (11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 and 141 of the
Corporation Code of the Philippines, during the preceding 12 manths (or for such shorter period
the registrant was required to file such reports)

Yes

(b] has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 30 days.
Yes



SEC FORM 17-Q
MARCVENTURES HOLDINGS, INC

Table of Contents
PART | - FINANCIAL INFDRMATIGNE

[tEM 1~ FINANCIal SEALEMENTS .....ivusmreeiineeusis st cesessssesssssss e e b s tes e sesseeeseseeses e seee oo e 3
summary of Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 ............. 3
summary of Consolidated Income Statement for the three months pericd ended March 31,
LB BN 2007 s iutaiistivinstient e ssossesssesevaret e o8 8mta s s emstaeben 48 e o s et et 3
Summary of Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the three months period ending March
3L, 2018 AN 2017 wocuviierriivusinniiiaet s semessssess e ssmsens e ssre e ssees s e et et eeeeeeeees e 4

Item 2. - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation .. 4
Financial Candition and Results of OPeration: ..............ccovvov oo oo oo oo 4
HOTIZONtE] ANd VEtICA ANBIVSISI .....o.vucecvivoos e scesessee e seesosssesss e ssssss e ssessssesseessesees oo 6
L BB ar gt 2l L SN S S D U SO O U S S 3

e Lo L D 10
FART Ill - FINANCIAL SOUNDONESS INDICATDHS:L{]
G A T R e 30 30000004 mmseranes v v enres st A48 6 A A e 11
LR e R SRR o i SR T R e s e 12
Marchad, 2038 B DECEmBEr 3L 0T .o v sasi i e s 12



Item 1- Financial Statements

The unaudited Consolidated Financial Statement of Marcventures Holdings  Inc,

PART | - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

as of

March 31, 2018 and for the three month period ended March 31, 2017 with comparative audited
figure as of December 31, 2017 is in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles and
there were no changes made in accounting policies and methods of computation in the preparation

of the interim financial statements,

Summary of Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

March 31, Dec, 31, 2017 March 31, 2018 vs.
2018 Audited Dec. 31, 2017
Unaudited
Amount Percentage
Increase Increase
{decrease) (decrease)
{F'000} (#'000) (8000}
Current assets #701,065 645,861 755,204 8.55%
MWoncurrent assets 4,666,987 4,670,252 {3,265) 0.07%
Total Assets £5,368,052 5,316,113 51,938 0.98%
Current Liabilities #621,802 #4&4,6&? 177,195 3935@
Mancurrent liabilities 663,422 663,581 (159) 0.02%
Total Stockholders’ Equity 4,082,828 4,207,925 (125,097) (2.97%)
Total Liahilities and Stockholders’ Equity FE,SEB;DEE #5,316,113 #73,058 1.37%

summary of Consolidated Income Statement for the three months period ended March 31, 2018

and 2017.

For three months ending March

March 31, 2018 vs,
March 31, 2017

Amount Percentage
Increase Increase
2018 2017 {decrease) (decrease)
(P'00D) (P"000) (#'000)

Revenues | #51,163 (#51,163) {100.00%:)
Cost of Sales - 27,856 (27,856) {100.00%)
Gross Profit - 23,307 (23,307) {100.00%)
Operating expenses (121,337) (94.282) 27,056 28.70%
Incame from aperations (121,337) (70,975} 50.363 70.96%
Other Income | Expenses) {3,759) {1,202) 2,557 212.73%
Net income (loss) for the period (P125,097) (P72,177) , #52,920 73.32%




Summary of Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the three months period ending March 31,
2018 and 2017.

For Three Month Ending

2018 2017
(P’000) (’000)
Cash used in operating activities {#190,785) (P103,393)
Cash used in investing activities (15,123) {16,907)
Cash provided by [ used in) financing activities 194,611 (6,969)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalent (11,297) (127,269)
Cash - beginning 47,062 164,575
Cash -ending 35,765 £37,305

Item 2. - Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation

The following discussion is based on the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the
first quarter period ended March 31, 2018, with comparative figures for the corresponding periods
in 2017 and audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2017, prepared in
conformity with Philippine Accounting Standards 34, Interim Financial Reporting and included
herein, and should be read in conjunction with those unaudited interim consolidated financial
statements.

Financial Condition and Results of Operation:

Three months ended March 31, 2018 compared with three months March 31, 2017

Revenues

For the first quarter ended March 31, 2018, due to unfavorable weather condition in the area,
Marcventures Mining and Development Corporation was not able to made any shipment compared
to one (1) shipment of nickel ore made on the same quarter last year with sales amount of #51.16
million. For the first quarter, the company focused on preparatory activities consisting primarily of
road widening, repair of haul roads, bridges and causeway impraovement.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses increased by 28.70% or #27.06 million increased from P94.28 million for the
first quarter period last year to #121.34 million this year. The increase was mainly accounted for by
the following:

* Increase in Taxes and licenses by #8.95 million or equivalent to 49.85% due to payment of
business permits to the municipalities of Cantilan and Carrascal.

* Increase in Salaries and allowances by #4.46 million or equivalent to 18.75% due to
management recrganization to promote efficiency.

* Increase in Professional fees by #1.5 million or equivalent to 24.04% due to engagement of
consultants,

* Increase in Social development program by P2.3 million or equivalent to 152.57%.

* Increase in Outside services by #7.27 million or equivalent to 112.45% mainly due to services
made on valuation of property and services related in processing of permits.

* Incease in Environmental expenses amounting £#2.75 million or eguivalent to 89.53%

Equipment rental for desilting and maintenance of settling ponds.
4



* Increase in Director's Fee by P0.48 million or equivalent to 12.98% per diem of board of
directors for board meetings.

* Increase in Depreciation by #530.20 million or equivalent to 7.13% due to purchase of
additional property and equipment.

* Increase in Rental by 771,91 million or equivalent to 86.14% rental of additional hangarage
for aircraft,

* Increase in Supplies by #1.67 million or equivalent to 190.15% due to increased in office and
pantry supplies.

¢ Decrease in Repairs and Maintenance by #0.39 million or equivalent to 437.41% due mostly
due repair of aircraft and office equipment.

* Increase in Other expenses by £1.37 million or equivalent to 20.26% mainly due to
membership fees and special assessment of Chamber of Mines and other site expenses.

The above cost increases were partly offset by the following :

¢ Decrease in Community relation by #1.3 million or equivalent to 68.30%

* Decrease in Representation by #3.0 million or equivalent to 61.93%.

* Decrease in advertisement by #0.54 million or equivalent to 61.69%.

* Decrease in Royalties of #0.54 due to no shipment of nickel ore for the quarter.

* Decrease in freight and shipment of #0.36 million due to no shipment of nickel ore for the
quarter.

Statement of Financial Position

March 31, 2018 vs. Decemnber 31, 2017

Assets

The consolidated total assets of the Company increased by £51.94 million from £5,316.11 million as
of December 31, 2017 to #5,368.05 million as of March 31, 2018. The 0.98% increase was mainly
due to the following:

¢ Increase in total current assets from #645.86 million as of December 31, 2017 to 8701.06
million as of March 31, 2018. The 8.55% or £55.20 increase was attributable to the
following:

o Decrease incash from #47.06 million to #35.77 million or reduction of B11.3 million
or 24.01%, due to payment of trade payables and to fund the operation.

o Decrease in Trade and other receivables from #232.79 million to #188.25 million.
The decrease of #44.54 million or 19.13% was due to collection from sales of ore.

¢ Increase in Inventory from £229.45 million to #338.64 million. The increase of
$109.19 or 47.59% pertains to the inventory buildup in preparation for the shipment
operations,



Liabilities

The total consolidated liabilities of the Company increased by #177.03 million or a 15.97% from
£1,108.19 million as of December 31, 2017 to #1,285.22 million as of March 31, 2018. The increased
was due to availment of bank loan.

Equity
The stockholders’ equity of the Company decreased by 125.10 million or 2.97% from £4,207,30
million as of December 31, 2017 to #4.082.83 million as of March 31, 2018, due to decreased in

retained earnings from net loss for the quarter,

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The net cash used in operating activities amounted to #195.19 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2018 as compared to the same period last year amounted to
#103.39 million. The decrease in cash from operating activities is the net result of the following:

s Netloss generated during the first quarter this year.
* Increase in inventory and advances to related parties
e Increase in current liabilities

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to 10,72 million as compared to £16.91 million for the
same period in 2017 due to acquisition of property and equipment.

Net cash provided in financing activities amounted to #196.61 million as compared to #6.97 million
last year due to availment of bank loan,

The net effect of the foregoing operating, investing and financing activities is a decrease of 11.30
million and a balance of #35.76 million in cash as of March 31, 2018 as compared to a decrease of R
127.27 millien and a balance of #37.31 million as of March 31, 2017,

Horizontal and Vertical Analvsis:

Consolidated Increase(decrease)
March 31, 2018 December 2017 Armount Percentage

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash #35,765,138 #47,062,535 {#11,297,397) 24 01%
Trade and other receivables 188,255,021 232,793,388 (44,538,367) 19.13%
Inventories 338,637,401 229,447,620 109,189,781 47.59%
Advances to related parties 42,840,243 42,828 377 11,866 0.03%
Other current assets 95,567,188 93,729,220 1,837 968 1.96%

Total Current Assets 701,064,992 #645,861,140 55,203,852 8.55%
MNon-current Assets
Property and equipment 381,594,995 381,263,597 330,998 0.09%
Mining rights on explored
resources 3,867,826,211 3,865,845,679 1,980,532 0.05%
MNet deferred tax assets 11,308,435 11,308,435 - -
Other non current assets 406,257,271 411,834,110 {5,576,839) {1.3554)

Total Noncurrent assets 4,666,986,912 4,670,252,221 {3,265,309) (0.07% .
TOTAL ASSETS P5,368,051,904  P5,316,113,361 51,938,543 0.98%




Consolidated

Increase{decrease)

) March 31, 2018 December 2(]2_1_1____* - _""Arggy_nt Percentage
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payable #258,491,510 287,820,914 (29,329,404) 10.19%
Loan payable 300,543,049 101,364,876 199,179,073 196.50%
Income tax payable 40,713,773 40,713,773 - -
Dividend payable 4,707,886 4,707,886 = =
_Advances from related party 17,344,955 10,000,000 7,344,955 73.45%
Tatal Current liabilities 621,802,073 444,607,449 177,194,624 39.85%
Mon current Liahilities
Long-term loans - net of
current portion 36,961,040 37,120,206 {159,166) (D.43%)
Provision for mine site
rehabilitation and
decommisioning 49,796,810 49,796,810 = &
Retirement liability 36,400,994 36,400,994 - -
Deposit for future =
suvscription 75,000,000 75,000,000 -
Deferred tax liability 465,262,758 465,262,759 £ =
Total Non current
liabilities 663,421,603 663,580,769 (159,166) (0.02%)
#1,285,223,676 £1,108,188,218 (198,155,024} 44,60%
Equity
Capital stock 2,969,088,599 2,569,088,599 = =
Additional paid in capital 235,931,494 235,931,494 - £
Retained Earnings 838,344,761 963,441,676 (125,096,915) (12.98%)
Actuarial Gain 35,463,374 35,463,374 e -
_ Total Equity 4,082,828,228 4,207,295,143 (125,096,915) (2.97%)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY '$5,368,051,904 #5,316,113,361 73,058,109 1.37%
OTHER INFORMATION
a There are no known trends or any known demands, commitments, events or uncertainties

that will result in or that are reasonably likely to result in the registrant’s liquidity increasing or
decreasing in any material way.

b. There are no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material
to the company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation.

off There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations {including
contingent obligations), and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities
or other persons created during the reporting period,



d.

Marcventures Mining and Development Corporation (MMDC) 2018 plan for capital
expenditures are as follows:

Project Budgeted amount

Carac-an Bridge Construction #34,200,000
Phase 2, Causeway Expansion 12,450,000
Almic Bridge Construction 18,850,000
Banban Bridge Construction 18,400,000
Road improvement 35,798,788

£119,698,788

Aside from the volatile prices of ore in the market and USD exchange rate, there are no other
known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected to have
a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing
operations

The causes for the material changes from period to period in the financial accounts were
explained in the management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of
operation,

There are no significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the registrant’s
continuing operations.

Due te continous rain in the first quarter and Tropical Storm Basyang we MMDC there were no
shipment made as compared to last year.

There are no items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income, or cash flows that are
unusual because of their nature, size, or incidents.

There are no new Issuances, repurchases, and repayments of debt and equity securities.

There are no material events subsequent to the end of the interim period that have not
been reflected in the financial statements for the interim period.

As consideration for the merger, the Company shall issue 675,000,000 shares in favor of
APMPC shareholders and 450,000,000 shares in favor of BHI shareholders or a total of
1,125,000,000 shares at a par value of PhP 1.00 per share.

There are no changes in the composition of the issuer during the interim period including
business combinations, acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and long-term investments,
restructurings, and discontinuing operations.

There are no contingent liabilities or contingent assets since the last annual balance sheet
date.

There are no material contingencies and other material events or transactions during the
interim period.

There are no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to
the company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation.



Key Performance Indicators

Marcventures” management uses the following KPIs for the Company’ and its subsidiaries:

March 31, 2018 |

March 31, 2017

Met Loss (F125,096,915) [FTZ,l?E,?ﬂB]_
Quick assets 224,020,160 154,606,428 |
Current assets 701,064,992 554,626,791
Total Assets 5,368,051,904 3,341,912,677
Current liahilities 621,802,073 | 292,856,095
Total liahilities 1,285,223,676 441,717,365
Stockholders’ Equity 4,082,828,228 2,900,195,312 |
Number of comman shares 2,969,088,599 1,821,358,599 |
outstanding |
Liguidity ratios:

Current ratio ' 1.13:1 1.89:1
Quick ratio 1! 0.36:1 0.53:1
| Solvency Ratios: ;
Debt ratio 0.24:1 0.13:1

Debt to Equity ratio ¥ 0.31:1 0.15:1 |
Profitability ratios: i

Earning ( loss) per share ! {0.04) (0.04)
Book value per share '8 1.38 1.59

MNote:

1. Current assets / Current liabilities

2. Quick assets / Current liabilities

3. Total liabilities / Total assets

4. Total Liabilities / Shareholders' equity

5. Net income ( lass ) f common shares outstanding
6. Stockholders’ equity / common shares outstanding



PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION
Any information not previously reported in a repart on SEC Form 17-C
NONE
PART Il - FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS

Liguidity Ratio
a. Current Ratio
Total Current Assets/ Total Current Liabilities = 1,131
b. Quick Ratio
Quick asset / Total Current Laibilities = 0,361

Solvency Ratio
a. DebtRatio

Total liabilities / Total assets = 0.24:1
b. Debt to Equity Ratio
Total liabilities / Shareholder’s Equity = 0.31:1

Profitabilty Ratio
a. Return on Equity Ratio

Net income { loss) / Average shareholder's equity = (0.03):1
b. Return on Assets

Netincome (loss)/ Average Total assets = (0,02):1
c. Fixed Assets Turnover Ratio :

Revenue/Property Plant and Equipment = 0.00

d. Asset to Equity Ratio:
Total Assets / Stockholders' Equity = 1.29:1
e. Asset Turnover
Revenue/Total Assets = 0.00

Interest Coverage Ratio
Net Income (loss) / Interest expense = (28.37):1

10



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Regulation Code, the Issuer has duly caused this report
to be signed on its hehalf by the undersigned thereunto duly autharized.

Issuer: MARCVENTURES HOLDINGS INC.

Signature and Title: ROL O 5. SANTOS
SVP-Finance
Date: May 17, 2018

{.-ﬂu;{t
Signature and Title: RENITA S.
Accountant

Date: May 17, 2018
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MARCVENTURES HOLDINGS, INC

MARCVENTURES HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Mote Mar. 31, 2018 Dec. 31,2017
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash 5 F35,765,138 B47,062,535
Trade and other receivables G 188,255,021 232,793,388
Inventories 7 338,637,401 229,447,620
Advances to related parties 21 42,840,243 42 828,377
Other current assets B 95,567,188 893,729,220
Total Current Assets 701,064,992 645,861,140
Noncurrent Assets
Property and equipment g 381,594,995 381,263,597
Mining rights and other mining assets 10 3,867,826,211 3,865,845,679
MNet deferred tax assets 23 11,308,435 11,308,435
Other noncurrent assets 11 406,257,271 411,834,110
Total Noncurrent Assets 4,670,252,221
#5,368,051,904 B5,316,113,361
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables iz R258,491,510 BIE7 820,914
Loans payable 14 300,543,949 101,364,876
Advances from a related party 21 17,344,955 10,000,000
Dividends payable 15 4,707,886 4,707,886
Income tax payable 40,713,773 40,713,773
Total Current Liabilities 621,802,073 444 607,449
Moncurrent Liabilities
Long-term debt - net of current portion 14 36,961,040 37,120,206
Provision for mine rehabilitation and decommissioning 13 49,796,810 43,796,810
Retirement benefit liability 20 36,400,994 36,400,994
Deposit for future stock subscription 15 75,000,000 75,000,000
Deferred tax liability 4 465,262,759 465,262,759
Tetal Moncurrent Liahilities 663,421,603 663,58[}.?51_
Tetal Liahilities 1,285,223,676 1,108,188,218
Equity
Capital stock 15 2,968,088,599 2,9659,088,599
Additional paid-in capital {APIC) 15 239,931,494 238,931,454
Retained earnings 838,344,761 963,441,676
Other comprehensive income 20 35,463,374 35,463,374

Total Equity

Rr4,082,828,228

4,207,925,143

F5,368,051,904

B5,316,113,361

See accompanying Notes to Consalidated Finonclol Statements.



MARCVENTURES HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Three Months Ended March 31

Mote 2018 2017

REVENUE 16 R~ B51,163,200
COST OF SALES 17 - 27,855,648
GROSS INCOME - 23,307,552
OPERATING EXPENSES 18 {121,337,452) {94,281,820)
INCOME {LOS5) FROM OPERATIONS {121,337,452) {(70,974,268)
INTEREST EXPENSE 14 {4,409,063) {2,305,122)
INTEREST INCOME 5 27,815 30,884
OTHER INCOME [CHARGES) - Net 19 621,781 1,071,758
INCOME {LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX {125,096,915) (72,176,748)
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX 23 - =
NET INCOME {LOSS) {125,096,915)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Not to be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurement gain on retirement benefit liability - net

of deferred income tax 20 = =
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) {R125,096,915) (R72,176,748)
Basic and diluted earnings {loss) per share 24 (R0D.04) (BD.04)

See occompanying Motes to Consolidated Financiol Staterments.



MARCVENTURES HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Note March 31, 2018 March 31,2017
CAPITAL STOCK - R1 par value 15
Authorized - 4,000,000,000 shares in 2017 and
2,000,000,000 shares in 2016
Issued and outstanding:
Balance at beginning of year R2,969,088,599 £1,821,358,599
Issuance during the year - -
Balance at end of year 2,969,088,599 1,821,358,599
ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL 15 239,931,494 212,655,494
RETAINED EARNINGS 15
Balance at beginning of year 963,441,676 916,160,463
Net income (loss) (125,096,915) (72,176,148)
Balance at end of year 838,344,761 843,983,715
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Balance at beginning of year 34,463,374 22,197,503
Remeasurement gain on retirement benefit liability -
net of deferred income tax 20 = =
Balance at end of year 34,463,374 22,197,503

R4,082,828,228

R2,900,195,311

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



SEC FORM 17-Q
MARCVENTURES HOLDINGS, INC

MARCVENTURES HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Three Meonths Ended March 31

Note 2018 2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Incame (loss) before income tax (R125,096,915) (B72,176,748)
Adjustments for:
Depletion 10 - 3,026,601
Depreciation 9 13,979,630 33,195,850
Interest expense 14 4,409,063 2,305,122
Interest incorme 5 (27,819) {30,884)
Operating income before working capital changes {106,736,041) (33,680,059)
Decrease {increase) in;
Trade and other receivables 44,538,367 (51,403,279
Inventories {104,780,536) (55,466,773)
Advances to related parties (21,131,432) 8,846,435
Other current assets (1,837,968) (4,635,590)
Increase (decrease) in:
Trade and other payables (29,329,404) 32,915,871
Advances from a related party 28,464,521 =
Met cash generated from operations (190,812,493) (103,423,395
Interest received 27,819 30,884
Net cash provided by operating activities {190,784,674) (103,392,511}
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to:
Property and equipment 9 (18,719,874) {2,040,601)
Mine and mining properties 10 (1,980,532) {1,523,605)
Other noncurrent assets 5,576,839 (13,342,948}
Met cash used in investing activities {15,123,567)) {16,507,154)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:
Availment of loan 204,880,000
Payments of;
Loans (5,860,093 {4,664,377)
Interest (4,409,063) {2,305,122)
Availment of loans
Met cash provided by (used in) financing activities 194,610,844 {6,969,499)

MET DECREASE IN CASH

(11,297,397)

(127,269,164)

CASH AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

47,062,535

164,574,543

CASH AT END OF YEAR

235,765,139

37,305,379

See accomponping Notes to Consalidated Finoncial Stalements.



MARCVENTURES HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Information

General Information

Marcventures Holdings, Inc. (the Parent Company), singly and collectively with its subsidiaries, is
referred herein as “the Company”.

The Parent Company was incorporated and registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) on August 7, 1957, Its primary purpose is to deal with properties of every kind and
description to the extent permitted by law without engaging in the business of an investment
company as defined in the Investment Company Act (Republic Act 2629), or act as a securities broker
or dealer. On August 7, 2007, the SEC approved the extension of the Parent Company’s corporate life
for another 50 years.

The Parent Company’s shares of stock were initially listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (PSE)
on January 10, 1958, As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, 1,821,358,599 shares of the Parent
Company’s shalres of stock are listed in the PSE.

The registered address of the Parent Company is at 4th Floor, Citibank Center, 8741 Paseo de Roxas,
Makati City,

The consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directars
(BOD) on April 10, 2018,

BHI) and Asia Pilot Minin

Merger of the Parent Company, Brightereen Resources Holdings Inc.

Phils. Corp. [APMPC

On December 29, 2017, the SEC approved the application for merger of the Parent Company, BHI and
APMPC, with the Parent Company as the surviving entity and the increase in authorized capital stock
of the Parent Company to accommaodate the merger from 2,000,000,000 shares at #1 par value to
4,000,000,000 shares at 21 par value a share, Dut of this increase, a total of 1,125,000,000 of the
Farent Company’s common shares were issued to BHI and APMPC shareholders at R1 per share.

BHI owns 100% interest in BrightGreen Resources Carporation (BGRC) and APMPC owns 100% interest
in Alumina Mining Philippines, Inc. {AMPI) and Bauxite Resources, Inc. (BARI).

Information about the Subsidiaries

All of the subsidiaries of the Parent Company are wholly-owned.

Marcventures Mining ond Development Corporation (MMDC). MMDC was incorporated and
registered with the SEC on January 18, 1995 primarily to engage and/or carry on the business of
extracting, mining, smelting, refining and converting mineral ores such as, but not limited to nickel,
chromites, copper, gold, manganese and other similar ores and/natural metallic or non-metallic
resource.

MMDC has been granted by the Department of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR) Mineral
Production Sharing Agreement (MPSA) No. 016-93-X (SMR) covering an area of approximately 4,799
hectares located in the municipalities of Carrascal, Cantilan and Madrid, Surigao Del Sur.
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Originally, the MPSA was granted to Ventura Timber Corporation (VTC) on June 19, 1992,
In January 1955, VTC executed a deed of assignment (the Deed) to transfer to MMDC all its rights and
interest in and title to the MPSA. On January 15, 2008, the Deed was approved by the Mines and
Geosciences Bureau (MGB).

On June 24, 2016, the DENR issued an order approving the extension of MMDC’s MPSA for a period
of 9 years starting from the expiration of the first 25-year term.

On February 13, 2017, MMDC received an order dated February 8, 2017 from the DENR cancelling its
MP3A. Management and its legal counsel believe that the order has no basis and the outcome of
legal actions taken will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operations
(see Note 25). Accordingly, the Company has continued its mining operations in areas covered by the
MPSA.

BGRC. BGRC was incorporated and registered with the SEC on July 20, 1989 to engage in the mining
business.

On July 1, 1993, the DENR approved BGRC's application for MPSA No. 015-93-XI (SMR) covering an
area of approximately 4,860 hectares located in the municipalities of Carrascal and Cantilan, Surigao
del 5ur, BGRC is undertaking its continuous explaratory drilling program to block mineral resources
at indicated and measured category.

AMP!. AMPI was incorporated and registered with the SEC on August 31, 2001 to engage in the mining
business,

On December 5, 2002, the DENR approved AMPI's application for MPSA No, 179-2002-VIII-SBMR
covering 6,694 hectares in the municipalities of San Jose de Buan and Paranas Samar in Eastern
Visayas (Region VIIl) , valid for 25 years and renewable for another 25 years.

BARI. was incorporated and registered with the SEC on August 31, 2001 to engage in the mining
business.

On December 5, 2002, the DENR approved BARI's application for MPSA No. 180-2002-VIII-5BMR
covering 5,519 hectares in the Municipalities of Gandara, San Jose de Buan, Matuguinao, and San
Jorge, Province of Samar (formerly known as Western Samar) in Eastern Visayas (Region VIIl) , valid
for 25 years and renewable for another 25 years.

BGRC, AMP| and BARI received Show-Cause Orders dated February 13, 2017 from the DENR to explain
why their MP5A should not be cancelled pursuant to an alleged violation {see Note 25).

BGRC submitted a reply explaining that it has prior legal right.
AMPI and BARI submitted replies that their contract areas are not part of any watershed and are even

declared as Bauxite Mineral Reservations which allows development of bauxite deposits (see Note
25).



2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the Philippine Financial

Reporting Standards (PFRS). This financial reporting framewaork includes PFRS, Philippine Accounting
Standards (PAS) and Philippine Interpretations from International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) issued by the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards Council and adopted by the
SEC, including SEC pronouncements.

Measurement Bases

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso, which is the Company's
functional currency. All values are in absolute amounts, unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a historical cost basis,
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for an asset
and fair value of the consideration received in exchange for incurring a liability.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the transaction date.

The Company uses market observable data to a possible extent when measuring the fair value of
an asset or a liability. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair ualue hierarchy based
on inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

* level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

» Llevel 2 -Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurament is directly or indirectly observable.

» Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable. :

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in different
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in
the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement,

The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the
reporting period during which the change has occurred,

Further disclosures are included in Note 26, Financial Risk Management Ohjectives and Policies.



Adoption of New and Amended PFRS

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for
the adoption of the following relevant amended PFRS which the Company adopted effective for
annual periods beginning January 1, 2017:

* Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows - Disclosure Initiative - The amendments require
entities to provide information that enable the users of financial statements to evaluate changes
in liabilities arising from their financing actlvities.

* Amendments to PAS 12, Income Taxes - Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized
Losses — The amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax where an asset is measured at
fair value and the fair value is below the asset’s tax base (e.g. deferred tax asset related to
unrealized losses on deht instruments measured at fair value), as well as certain other aspects of
accounting for deferred tax assets.

The adoption of the foregoing new and amended PFRS did not have any material effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Company. Additional disclosures have been included in the
notes to consolidated financial statements, as applicable.

New and Amended PFRS in Issue But Not Yet Effective

Relevant new PFRS which are not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2017 and have not
been applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements are summarized below. The
Company intends to adopt these standards when they become effective.

Effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2018;

¢ PFRS 9, Financial Instruments — This standard will replace PAS 39, Finoncial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement (and all the previous versions of PFRS 9). It contains requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, impairment,
hedge accounting and derecognition.

PFRS 9 requires all recognized financial assets to be subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair
value (through profit or loss or through ather comprehensive income), depending on their classification
by reference to the business model within which they are held and their contractual cash flow
characteristics.

For financial liabilities, the most significant effect of PFRS 9 relates to cases where the fair value option
is taken: the amount of change in fair value of a financial liability designated as at fair value through
profit or loss that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liahility is recognized in other
comprehensive income (rather than in profit or loss), unless this creates an accounting mismatch,

For the impairment of financial assets, PFRS 9 introduces an “expected credit loss” model based an the
concept of providing for expected losses at inception of a contract; recagnition of a credit loss should
no longer wait for there to be objective evidence of impairment.

For hedge accounting, PFRS 9 introduces a substantial overhaul allowing financial statements to better
reflect how risk management activities are undertaken when hedging financial and non-financial risk

gxposures.

The derecognition provisions are carried over almost unchanged fram PAS 39.
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* PFRS 15, Revenue from Controcts with Customers — The new standard replaces PAS 11,
Construction Contracts, PAS 18, Revenue and related interpretations. It establishes a single
comprehensive framework for revenue recognition to apply consistently across transactions,
industries and capital markets, with a core principle (based on a five-step model to be applied to
all contracts with customers), enhanced disclosures, and new or improved guidance (e.g. the point
at which revenue is recognized, accounting for variable considerations, costs of fulfilling and
obtaining a contract, etc.).

* Amendment to PFRS 15 - Clarification to PFAS 15 - The amendments provide clarifications on the
following topics: (a} identifying performance obligations; (b) principal wversus agent
considerations; and (¢} licensing, The amendments also provide some transition relief for modified
contracts and completed contracts.

= Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration —
The interpretation provides guidance clarifying that the exchange rate to use in transactions that
involve advance consideration paid or received in a foreign currency is the one at the date of initial
recognition of the non-monetary prepayment asset or deferred income liability,

Effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2019

* PFR5 16, Leases — This standard replaces PAS 17, Leases and its related interpretations. The most
significant change introduced by the new standard is that almost all leases will be brought onto
lessees’ statement of financial position under a single model {except leases of less than
12 months and leases of low-value assets}, eliminating the distinction between operating and
finance leases. Lessor accounting, however, remains largely unchanged and the distinction
between operating and finance lease Is retained.

Under prevailing circumstances, the adoption of the foregoing new and amended PFRS is not
expected to have any material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
Additional disclosures will be included in the notes to consolidated financial statements, as applicable.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Parent Company and its
subsidiaries, MMDC as at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 and for the years ended December
31, 2017and 2016, and BGRC, AMP! and BARI as at March 31, 2018.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Parent Company. A subsidiary is consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Parent Company directly or through the holding
companies. Control is achieved when the Company is exposed or has rights to variable returns from
its investment with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee, A subsidiary is deconsolidated from the date on which control ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the
company using uniform accounting policies. Significant intercompany transactions and balances,
including intercompany profits and unrealized profits and losses, are eliminated in full.

A change in ownership interest in a subsidiary, without a change in control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.
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If the Parent Company loses control over a subsidiary, the Company: (a) derecognizes the assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary; (b) derecognizes the carrying amounts of any non-controlling interest; (c)
derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; (d) recognizes the fair value
of consideration received; (e) recognizes the fair value of any investment retained; (f} recognizes any
surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and (g) reclassifies the Company's share of components previously
recognized in other comprehensive income to profit or loss,

Financial Assets and Liabilities

Recognition. Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the consolidated statements of financial
position when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provision of a financial instrument.
Financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value. In the case of regular way purchase or sale
of financial asset, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done using trade date accounting, The
initial measurement of the financial instruments, except for those classified at fair value through profit
or loss (FVPL), includes transaction costs.

“Day 17 Difference. Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value
of other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation
technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the
difference between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1" difference) in the profit or loss
unless it qualifies for recognition as some other types of assets. In cases where use is made of data
which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only
recognized in the profit or loss when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is
derecognized. For each transaction, the Company determines the appropriate method of recognizing
the “Day 1” difference amount,

Classification. The Company classifies its financial assets at initial recognition under the following
categories: (a) financial assets at FVPL, (b) held-to-maturity {HTM) investments, {c} loans and
receivables and (d) available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets. Financial liabilities, on the other hand, are
classified as either financial liabilities at FVPL or other financial liabilities at amortized cost. The
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired or incurred
and whether or not the instruments are quoted in an active market. Management determines the
classification of its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition and, where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every reporting date.

As at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company does not have financial assets and
liabilities at FVPL, HTM investments and AFS financial assets.

Loons and Receivables. Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities and that are not quoted in an active market, These are not entered
into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not classified or designated as AFS
financial assets or financial asset at FVPL, Loans and receivables are included in current assets if
maturity is within 12 months from reporting date. Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent
assets,

After initial measurement, loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment, if any. Amortized cost is calculated by
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and any transaction cost which are
directly attributable in the acquisition of the financial instrument. The amortization is included in
profit or loss,
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This category includes cash, trade and other receivables [excluding advances to officers and
employees), advances to related parties, and rehabilitation cash fund (RCF), monitoring trust fund
{MTF) and rental deposit (classified under "Other noncurrent assets”).

Other Financial Liobilities at Amortized Cost. Financial liabilities are classified in this category if these
are not held for trading or not designated as at FVPL upon the inception of the liability. These include
liabilities arising from operations or through borrowing,

After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method.

This category includes trade and other payables (excluding excise tax and other statutory payables),
loans payable, long-term debt, advances from a related party and dividends payable.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilitles

Financial Assets. A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group
of similar financial assets) is derecognized when:

= the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired; or

= the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation
to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
or

+ the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either {a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the assets, or (b} has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risk and rewards of the assets, but has transferred control over the
asset.

Where the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into
a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the
Company's continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset, if any, is measured at the lower of original carrying amount of
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to pay.

Financial Liabilities, A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled or has expired. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of the new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amount
is recognized in profit or loss,



Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statements
of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements where the related
assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated statements of financial position.

Impairment of Financial Assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed
impaired if, and anly if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event
(or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated, The carrying amount of the impaired account is reduced to the
extent that it exceeds the asset’s net realizable value. Impairment losses are recognized in full in profit
orlass. If in a subsequent period, the amount of accumulated impairment losses has decreased because
of an event occurring after impairment was recognized, the decline is allowed to be reversed to profit or
loss to the extent that the resulting carrying amount will not exceed the amaortized cost determined had
no impairment been recognized.

Cash

Cash in the consolidated statements of financial position comprise cash on hand and in banks,
excluding any restricted cash, Restricted cash, which includes RCF and MTF, is not available for use
by the Company and therefore is not considered highly liguid,

Inventories

Inventories, which consist of ore stockpiles, are physically measured or estimated and valued at the
lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). Cost consists of contractual services, personnel costs,
depletion, depreciation and other costs that are directly attributable in bringing the ore in its saleable
conditions. Cost is determined using the moving average method. NRV is the estimated selling price
in the ardinary course of business, less the estimated cost necessary to make the sale.

Other Current Assets
Other current assets include prepaid income tax, mining and office supplies, prepaid expenses and
advances to contractors and suppliers.

Prepoid Income Tax. Prepaid income tax represents creditable withholding tax and other tax credits
of the Parent Company,

Mining and Office Supplies. Mining and office supplies comprise purchase costs of mechanical,
electrical and other materials determined on a moving average method.

Prepaid Expenses. Prepayments represent expenses not yet incurred but paid in advance and are
apportioned over the period covered by the payment and charged to profit or loss when incurred.
Prepayments that are expected to be realized for no more than 12 months after the financial reporting
period are classified as current assets. Otherwise these are classified as noncurrent assets.
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Advances to Contractors and Suppliers, Advances to contractors and suppliers represent advance
payments on goods or services to be purchased in connection with the mining operation. These are
reclassfied to proper asset account in the consolidated statements of financial position or charged to
expense in the consolidated statements af comprehensive income upon actual receipt of goods or

services, which is normally within 12 months or within the normal operating cycle. Otherwise these
are classified as noncurrent assets.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, except for land, are initially measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment in value. The cost of an asset consists of its purchase price and costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use. Cost also includes any
asset retirement obligation and capitalized interest on borrowed funds used in the case of a qualifying
asset. Land is stated at cost less any impairment in value,

Subsequent expenditures relating to an item of property and equipment that have already been
recognized are added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic
benefits, in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow
to the Company. All other subsequent expenditures are recognized as expense in the period in which
these are incurred,

Each part of an item of property and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total
cost of the item shall be depreciated separately.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives of the
property and equipment;

Mumber of Years
Building and improvements 5-20
Office furniture, fixtures and equipment 2-5
Heawy and transportation equipment 4-10

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that these
are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and egquipment.

Construction-in-progress is included in property and equipment and stated at cost which includes cost
of construction and other direct costs. Construction-in-progress is not depreciated until such time
the relevant assets are ready for operational use,

Fully depreciated property and equipment are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use
and no further depreciation are credited or charged to current operations.

When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation
and any impairment in value are removed from the accounts. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized
in profit or loss,
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Mining Rights and Other Mining Assets

Mining Rights. Mining rights include costs incurred in connection with acquisition of rights over
mineral reserves. Rights over mineral reserves, which are measured, indicated or inferred, are
capitalized as part of mining rights on explored resources if the reserves are commercially producible
and that geclogical data demonstrate with a specified degree of certainty that recovery in future years
is probable.

Mining rights are subject to amortization or depletion from the commencement of production on a
unit-of-production method, based on proven and probable reserves, Costs used in the unit of
production calculation comprise the net book value of capitalized costs plus the estimated future
development costs. Changes in the estimates of mineral reserves or future development costs are
accounted for prospectively,

Deferred Exploration Costs. Deferred exploration costs include costs incurred in connection with
exploration activities. Deferred exploration cost is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Exploration and evaluation activities involve the search for mineral resources, the determination of
technical feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of the mineral resource.

Exploration and evaluation activities include:

= Gathering exploration data through geological studies;

* Exploratory drilling and sampling; and

s Fvaluating the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource.

Once the reserves are established and development is sanctioned, deferred exploration costs are
tested for impairment and reclassified to mine development costs,

Mine and Mining Properties. Upon start of commercial operations, mine development costs are
reclassified as part of mine and mining properties, These costs are subject to depletion, which is
computed using the units-of-production method based on proven and probable reserves, which is
reviewed periodically to ensure that the estimated depletion is consistent with the expected pattern
of economic benefits from the mine and mining properties.

Deferred development costs and construction-in-progress related to an already operating mine are
reclassified to mine and mining properties and stated at cost. Such costs pertain to expenses incurred
in sourcing new resources and converting these into reserves, which are not depleted or amortized
until the development has been completed and become available for use,

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that nonfinancial assets

may be impaired when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and if the carrying amount exceeds the
estimated recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit (CGU) is written down to its
recoverable amount, which is the greater of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. The fair value
less cost to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s-length transaction. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to present value using a pretax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
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specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the
recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses are
recagnized in profit or loss,

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the
last impairment loss was recognized. In such instance, the carrying amount of the asset is increased
to its recoverable amount. However, that increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of any depreciation and depletion, had no impairment loss been
recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss. After such reversal,
the depreciation and depletion charges are adjusted in future years to allocate the asset's revised
carrying amount, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life,

Employee Benefits

Short-term Benefits. The Company provides short-term benefits to its employees in the form of basic
and 13th maonth pay, bonuses, employer's share on government contribution and other short-term
benefits,

Retirement Benefits. The Company has an unfunded, non-contributory defined benefit plan covering
all qualified employees. The retirement benefits expense is determined using the projected unit
credit method which reflects services rendered by employees to the date of valuation and
incarporates assumptions concerning employees’ projected salaries.

The Company recognhizes service costs, comprising of current service costs, past service costs, gains
and losses on curtailments and non-routine settlements; and net interest cost in profit or loss. Net
Interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the retirement benefit liability.

Current service costs are the increase in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting
from employee service and are recognized in profit or loss,

Past service costs are recognized in profit or loss on the earlier of the date of the plan amendment or
curtailment; and the date that the Company recognizes restructuring related costs.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses and any change in the effect of the asset
celling (excluding net interest cost on retirement benefit liability) are recognized immediately in other
comprehensive income (OCI) in the period in which they arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified
to profit or loss in subseqguent periods.

The retirement benefit liability is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation
which is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rate on
government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related retirement
benefit liahility.

Actuarial valuations are made with sufficient regularity so that the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements do not differ materially from the amounts that would be
determined at the reporting date.
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Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the development, construction or praoduction of a qualifying
asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalized as part of the asset. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when activities to
prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred.

Capitalization ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are complete. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other financing costs that the
Company incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

All ather borrowing costs are recognized and charged to profit or loss as incurred.
Equity
Copital Stock. Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued and outstanding.

APIC. APIC is the excess over par value of consideration received for the subscription and issuance of
shares of stock. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuances of capital stock are recognized
as a deduction from equity.

Retained Earnings, Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of the Company's operating
results, dividend distributions, effect of change in accounting policy and other capital adjustments.

OC!. OCl comprises of items of income and expenses that are not recognized in profit or loss for the
year in accordance with PFRS. OCI pertains to remeasurement gain or loss on retirement benefit
liability.

Deposit for Future Stock Subscription

Deposit for future subscription represents funds received from existing or potential stockholders to be
applied as payment for future issuance of capital stock. Deposit for future stock subscription is
recognized as equity if and only if, all of the following elements set forth by the SEC are present as of
end of the reporting period:

» The unissued authorized capital stock of the entity is insufficient to cover the amount of shares
indicated in the contract;

s There is BOD and stockholders' approval on the proposed increase in authorized capital stock (for
which a deposit was received by the corporation);

s The application for the approval of the proposed increase has been filed with the SEC.

If any or all of the foregoing elements are not present, the transaction should be recognized as a liability.,
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Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the
Company and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Revenue is recognized as follows:

Sale of Ore. Sale of ore is recognized upon delivery of poods to and acceptance by customers,

Reservation Fee for Ore Allocation. Revenue is recognized when the grant of right to ore to be
provided in the future is established.

Interest Income. Interest income is recognized in profit or loss as it accrues, taking inte account the
effective yield on the asset,

Other Income. Income from other sources is recognized when earned during the period,

Cost and Expense Recognition

Costs and expenses are recognized in profit or loss when there is a decrease in future economic
benefit related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability that can be measured reliably.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales is recognized when the related goods are sold.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses constitute costs of administering the business and costs
incurred to sell and market goods and services. These are expensed as incurred,

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement at the inception date, whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the
use of a specific asset or assets, and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, A reassessment
is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:

a. there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;

b. a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension
was initially included in the lease term;

¢. thereis a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset;
or

d. there is a substantial change to the asset.

Where reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the
change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), [c) or (d) and at the date of
renewal or extension period for scenario (b).

Operating Lease - Company as Lessee. Leases where the lessor retains substa ntially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases, Operating lease payments are recagnized as
an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. For income tax purposes,
expenses under operating lease agreements are treated as deductible expense in accordance with
the terms of the lease agreements.
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Foreign Currency-Denominated Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liahilities denominated in foreign currencies are restated using the closing
exchange rate at reporting date, Exchange rate differences arising from the translation or settlement
of monetary items at rates different from those at which these were initially recorded during the
period are recognized in the profit or loss in the period these arise,

For income tax reporting purposes, foreign exchange gains or losses are treated as taxable income or
deductible expenses in the period such are realized,

Income Taxes

Current Tax. Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or pald to the taxation authorities. The tax rate used to compute the amount is the one that has
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date,

Deferred Tax. Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognized for all deductible temparary differences, carryforward benefits of any unused tax credits
from the excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax
(RCIT) and any unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and carryforward
benefits of unused MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. Deferred tax, however, is not recognized
when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxahble
profit or loss.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered,

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rate and tax laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, or items directly recognized in equity as other comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxahle entity and the
same taxation authority.

Value Added Tax [VAT)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except:

e where the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable; and
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¢ receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of tax included.

The net amount of tax recoverable from the taxation authority is included as part of “Other
noncurrent assets” in the consolidated statements of financial position.

Deferred Input VAT

In accordance with the Revenue Regulation (RR) No. 16-2005, input VAT on purchases or imports of
capital goods (depreciable assets for income tax purposes) with an aggregate acquisition cost (exclusive
of VAT} in each of the calendar month exceeding R1.0 million are claimed as credit against output VAT
over 60 months or the estimated useful lives of capital goods, whichever is shorter,

Related Parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common
significant influence.

Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a

result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation, Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain,
The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement. If the
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pretax rate
that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

Provisions for Mine Rehabifitation and Decommissioning. The Company recognizes provisions when
there is partial fulfillment of obligation to restore operating locations at the end of the reporting
period. The nature of these restoration activities includes dismantling and removing structures,
rehabilitating mines.and tailings dams, dismantling operating facilities, closure of plant and waste site
and restoration, reclamation and revegetation of affected areas. The obligation generally arises when
the asset is installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the production location,

Where applicable, the Company recognizes a mine rehabilitation asset under the mine and mining
properties related to the obligation arising from the mine rehabilitation and decommissioning. The
cost of such asset corresponds to the present value of future cost of rehabilitation and
decommissioning and amaortized over expected settlement of the obligation using units of production
method. The estimated future costs of rehabilitation and decommissioning are reviewed annually
and adjusted prospectively. Changes in the estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are
added to or deducted from the cost of the asset, Any amount deducted from the cost of asset shall
not exceed its carrying amount. In case the decrease in the obligation exceeds the carrying amount
of the asset, the excess shall be recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Contingencies. Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
These are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized
in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial
statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
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Earnings Per Share

Bosic. Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income by the weighted average
number of commaon shares outstanding during the year, excluding commeon shares purchased by the
Company and held as treasury shares, if any.

Diluted. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding to assume conversion of all potential dilutive common shares during the
period.

Events After the Reporting Date

Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company's financial position at
the end of reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the cansolidated financial statements.
Past year-end events that are non-adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial
statements when material.

Segment Reporting
The Company has one operating segment which consists of mining exploration, development and

production. The Company’s asset producing revenues are located in the Philippines.

Significant Judgment, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

PFRS requires management to make judgment and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements. The judgment and estimates used in the consolidated financial
statements are based upon management's evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as at the
reporting date. While the Company believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate,
significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may materially
affect the estimated amounts. Actual results could differ from such estimates.

Judgment
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following

judgment, apart from those involving estimates, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Assessing the Ability of the Company to Continue as a Going Concern, The Company received an order
from the DENR for the cancellation of its MPSA. The management and its legal counsel believe that
the order has no basis and the outcome of the legal actions taken will not have 3 material adverse
effect on the Company's operations (see Note 1). Accordingly, the management has assessed that
the campany will continue as a going concern.

Estoblishing Control over the Subsidiaries. The Parent Company determined that it has control over the
subsidiaries by considering, among others, its power over the investee, exposure or rights to variable
returns from its invalvement with the investee, and the ability to use its power over the investee to affect
its returns.

Determining Functional Currency. Based on the econamic substance of the underlying circumstances
relevant to the Company, the functional currency of the Company has heen determined to be the
Philippine Peso, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company
operates.
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Determining Operating Segments. Determination of operating segments is based on the information
about the components that management uses to make decisions about the operating matters of the
Company. Operating segments use internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the Company’s
chief aperating decision maker, which is defined to be the Company’s BOD, in order to allocate
resources to the segment and assess its performance.

Management has assessed that the Company has only one operating segment which consists of
mining exploration, development and production.

Accounting for Operating Lease - Company as Lessee. The Company hasan operating lease agreement
for its office space. The Company has determined that the risks and benefits of ownership related to
the leased properties are retained by the lessor, Accordingly, the |ease is accounted for as an
operating lease,

Rent expense amounted to B1.7 mllion and RO.9 million respectively (see Note 18).

Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
The key estimates concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the

reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Estimating Allowance for Impairment of Trade and Other Receivables and Advances to Reloted Parties.
The Company maintains allowance for receivable impairment at a level considered adequate to
provide for potential uncollectible receivables. The level of this allowance is evaluated by
management on the basis of factors that affect the collectibility of the accounts. These factors
include, but are not limited to, the length of the Company's relationship with the customer, the
customer’s payment behavior and known market factors. The Company identifies and provides for
specific accounts that are doubtful of collection and reviews the age and status of the remaining
receivables and establishes a provision considering, among others, historical collection and write-off
experience.

Allowance for receivable impairment amounted to R11.0 million as at March 31, 2018 and December
31, 2017 (see Note G}

The carrying amounts of the Company's receivables are as follows:

Mote 2018 2017
Trade and other receivables 6 F188,255,021 £232,793,388
Advances to related parties 21 42,840,243 42 828,377

Estimating NRV of Inventories. The Company recognizes loss on inventories whenever NRY becomes
lower than costs due to damage, physical deterioration, obsolescence, changes in price levels ar other
causes. NRV is reviewed on a monthly basis to reflect the accurate valuation in the financial records.

The carrying amount of inventories, which is measured at the lower of cost and NRV, amounted to B
P338.6 million and B229.4 million as at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively (see
Note 7).
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Estimating the Realizability of Input VAT, The Company assesses the realizability of input VAT based
on its ability to utilize the asset. The assessment is made on a cantinuing basis year on year.

The carrying amount of input VAT, which is included as part of "Other noncurrent assets” account in
the consolidated statements of financial position, amounted to B298.0 million and #302.4 million as
at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively (see Note 11).

Estimating Useful Lives of Property and Equipment. The Company estimates the useful lives of
property and equipment based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for
use, The Company reviews annually the estimated useful lives of property and equipment based on
factors that include asset utilization, internal technical evaluation, technological changes,
environmental changes and anticipated use of the assets,

There were no changes in estimated useful lives of property and equipment as at March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, amounted to
#3B1.6 million and R381.3 million as at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively
(see Note 9).

Estimating Depletion Rate and Recoverable Reserves. Depletion rates used to amortize mine and
mining properties and mining rights under “Mining rights and other mining assets” account presented
in the consolidated statements of financial position are assessed on an annual basic based on the
results of latest estimate of recoverable reserves, which is subject to future revisions. Recoverable
reserves and resource estimates for development project are, to a large extent, based on the
interpretation of geological data obtained from drill holes and other sampling technigues and
feasibility studies which derive estimates of cost based upon anticipated tonnage and grades of ores
to be mined and processed, the configuration of the ore body, expected recovery rates from the ore,
estimated operating costs, estimated climatic conditions and other factors. Proven reserve estimates
are attributed to future development projects only where there is a significant commitment to project
funding and execution and for which applicable governmental and regulatory approvals have been
secured or are reasonably certain to be secured, The Company’s reserves are estimated based on
local regulatory guidelines provided under the Philippine Mineral Reporting Code and duly reviewed
and verified by a competent person.

The carrying amounts of mining rights and other rining assets are as follows:

MNote 2017 2017
Mining rights 10 B B2625357,305
Mine and mining properties 10 1,162,652,800

Estimating Provision for Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning. The Company recognizes
provision for its obligation to decommission and rehabilitate mine sites at the end of term of its MPSA.
The provision represents the best estimate of the expenditures required to settle the present
obligation at the current reporting date. The amount of provision depends on the completeness of
rehabilitation and decommissioning activities performed by the Company during and immediately
after every mining operation. Changes in rehabilitation and decommissioning costs are recognized as
additions or charges to the corresponding provision when these occur.
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While the Company has made its best estimate in establishing the decommissioning and rehabilitation
provision, because of potential changes in technology as well as safety and environmental
requirements, plus the actual time scale to complete decommissioning and rehabilitation activities,
the ultimate provision requirements could either increase or decrease significantly from the
Company's current estimates. The obligation to rehabilitate and decommission a mine generally
arises when the ground/environment is disturbed at the production location.

Mine rehabilitation asset, recognized under the mine and mining properties and presented as part of
“Mining assets” in the statements of financial position, amounted to B35.9 million as at March 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017 (see Note 10).

Provision for mine site rehabilitation and decommissioning amounted 49,8 million as at March 31,
2018 and Decemnber 31, 2017 (see Note 13).

Assessing Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets. The Company assesses impairment on nonfinancial
assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable, The factors that the Company considers important which could trigger an
impairment review include the following:

= significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;
* significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall business;
* significant negative industry or economic trends.

MNo impairment loss was recognized in 2018, 2017 and 2016,

The carrying amounts of the Company’s nonfinancial assets are as follows:

MNote 2018 2017

Mining rights and other mining assets 10 R3,867,826,211 PR3,B65,845,679

Property and equipment 9 381,594,995 381,263,597

Other current assets 8 95,567,188 93,729,220
Other noncurrent assets [excluding

financial assets and input VAT) 11 102,371,398 103,397,035

Estimating Retirement Benefit Liability. The determination of the Company's retirement benefit
liability and costs is dependent on the selection by management of assumptions used by actuaries in
calculating such amounts. Those assumptions include, among others, discount rate and salary
increase rate.

Actual results that differ from the Company’s assumptions are recorded as addition to or deduction
from retirement benefit liability and recognized in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, One
or more of the actuarial assumptions may differ significantly and as a result, the actuarial present
value of the retirement benefit obligation estimated as at reporting date may differ significantly from
the amount reported.
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Retirement benefit liability amounted to P36.4 million as at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
{see Mote 20),

Recognizing of Deferred Tax Assets. The Company reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax assets
at each reporting date and reduces deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized,

The Company’s recognized deferred tax assets amounted to 11.6 million as at March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017 (see Note 23).

Deferred tax assets were not recognized on NOLCO, MCIT and retirement benefit liability as at
December 31, 2017 because the management believes that there will be no sufficient future taxable
profits against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized.

The Company’s unrecognized deferred tax assets amounted to #15.8 million as at March 31, 2018
and December 31, 2017 (see Note 23).

Acquisition of Group of Assets

On December 29, 2017, the SEC approved the application for merger of the Parent Company, BHI and
APMPC, with the Parent Caompany as surviving entity (see Note 1). As at the acquisition date, BHI's
and APMPC's assets consist mainly of mining rights and deferred exploration costs. Management
determined that based on the substance of the underlying circumstances at that date, BHI and APM
did not constitute a business and, accordingly, was not accounted for as a business combination. The
transaction was accounted for as an acquisition of a group of assets, wherein the acquisition cost was

allocated among the individual identifiable assets net of liabilities assumed in the group based on their
relative fair values,

Allocation of the acquisition cost of the group of assets and liabilities of BHI and APM are as follows:

BHI APM Allocation
Assets
Current assets k2,862,560 R111,725 82,974,285
Mining rights 695,649 865 945,163,500 1,640,813,365
Deferred exploration costs 75,640,185 2,195,389 77,835,574
Property and equipment 2,062,495 - 2,062,459

776,215,109 047,470,614 1,723,685,723

Liabilities

Due to related parties 111,856,563 14,897,589 126,754,152

Deferred tax liahility 211,153,999 254,108,760 465,262,759

Loans payable 1,742,257 = 1,742,257

Other liabilities 1,462,290 3,464,265 4,526,555
326,215,109 272,470,614 598,685,723

MNet assets acquired B450,000,000  £675,000,000 B1,125,000,000
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The consideration for the acquisition cost consists of 1,125,000,000 common shares of the Parent
Company issued at 1 per share.

The fair value of the mining rights used as basis for allocating the acquisition cost are based on report
by Competent Persons (CP) dated June 30, 2017 and was arrived at using the Discounted Cash Flow
method {DCF) under the income approach methodology. Under this approach, the value of an asset
is determined by reference to the value of income, cash flow or cost savings generated by the asset.
Under the DCF method, the forecasted cash flows is discounted back to the valuation date, resulting
in a present value of the asset.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement categorized within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy of the Group's mining rights follows:

EH| APM
Mining life 10 20
Discount rate 12% 12%
Estimated mineral ore reserves (WMT):
Mickel ore 9,513,459 =
Bauxite ore - 28,904,888
Market price [per WMT) #8500 to R1,550 £1,350 to P1,550
Estimated annual shipment of mineral ore (WMT) 951,345 1,445,244
Production costs;
Average variable cost #477 to RAT9 PEG3
Fixed g448 RS0
Operating costs (percentage of gross revenue) 18% 19% to 33%
Estimated project costs #976,901,820 k1,693,192 588
Exchange rate of Philippine Peso to US Dollar R50: 51 BS0: 51

Discount Raote. The risk inherent in the pre-feasibility study stage and scale of production was
considered in determining the Risk Adjusted Discount Rate that was used to discount the net cash
flows generated from shipments during the period of analysis.

Estimated Minergl Ore Reserves, Ore reserve estimation is performed by the CP in accordance with
Philippine Mineral Reporting Code.

Market Prices. Market prices are based on the Bloomberg conservative Nickel ore price forecast and
Shanghai metal market for the nickel and bauxite mineral ore, respectively.

Production Costs. Estimated costs incurred in extracting mineral ores that composed of variable and
fixed costs.

Operating Cost. Estimated cost of administering the business and costs incurred to sell and market
Eoods,

Estimated Project Costs. Project costs pertain to project-related capital expenditures such as mining
equipment fleet, mine support services equitment and tools, mine development works and
infrastructures, safety equipment, environmental facilities, exploration expenses, permits and
licenses and final mine rehabilitiation and decommissioning program.
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Sensitivity Analysis
Significant increases (decreases) in estimated mineral ore reserves, market price and exchange rate
in isolation would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement, Significant increases
(decreases) in discount rate, production and operating costs and estimated project costs in isolation
would result in a lower (higher) fair value measurement,

Information about the absorbed companies

BHI. BHI was incorporated and registered with SEC on January 11, 2017 to deal with any and all
properties of every kind and description to the extent permitted by law provided it shall not engage
in the business of an investment company as defined in the Republic Act 2629, Investment Company
Act, or act as a securities broker or dealer. BHl owns 100% interest in BGRC (see Note 1).

APMPC, APMPC was incorporated and registered with SEC on August 14, 2013 to engage in mining
activities. APM owns 100% interests in AMPI and BARI (see Note 1),

5. Cash

This account consists of:

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Cash on hand RB427,751 £155,951
Cash in banks 35,337,387 46,906,584
B35,765,138 R47,062,535

Cash in banks earn interest at prevailing bank deposit rates. Interest income was earned from the
following sources:

Mote March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Cash in banks R27,574 F29,049
Other noncurrent assets 11 1,245 1,835
E27,819 R30,884

6. Trade and Other Receivables

This account consists of:

March 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Trade receivables R153,682,154 £201,115,654

Advances to officers and employees 11,823,185 28,547,655
1,683,469

Others 32,102,738 14,166,606

195,291,546 243,829,915

Allowance for impairment {11,036,525) (11,036,527}

R18E,255,021 B232,753,388
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Trade receivables are noninterest-bearing and usually collected within 30 days.

Advances to officers and employees are unsecured, noninterest-bearing and subject to liquidation
within one year,

Others primarily include advances to former related parties which are fully provided with allowance.
No pravision for impairment loss was recognized in 2018 and 2017.

Aging of Trade Receivables as at March 31, 2018:

Current 1 to 30 days past due 31 to 60 doys past due  61to 90 120+ pastdue  Total

e'000 #0000 £'000 e'000 £2'000 2’000

B - - - B153,682 153,682
Inventories

This account consists of beneficiated nickel ore amounting to B338.63 million and #229.4 million
which is stated at cost as at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017. The cost of inventories is lower
than its MRV,

Other Current Assets
This account consists of:

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Prepaid income tax R52,979,415 £40,646,183
Mining and office supplies 21,090,555 22,537,023
Prepaid expenses 7,641,604 7,926,806
Advances to contractors and suppliers 10,058,565 5,825,769
Others 3,797,050 7,793,439

95,567,189 893,729,220

Prepaid income tax represents creditable withholding tax and other tax credits of the Parent
Company.

Mining and office supplies include mechanical, electrical and other materials that will be used in the
Company's mining operation.

Prepaid expenses pertain to Insurance and rent,

Advances to contractors and suppliers include materials and fuel and oil to be supplied for the use of
the heavy equipment and are deductible against future billings.

Others pertain to advances made to National Commission of Indigenous Peaple (NCIP).
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9. Property and Equipment

Movements in this account are as follows:

March 31, 2018

Otfice
Furniture, Heawy and
Building and Fixtures and  Transportation Construction

Land  Improvements Equipment Equiptment in-progress Tatal
Cost
Balanca at beginning of vear R57,933 414 R1G68, 864,919 R81,028,227 R3I76,ET1.520 F36,453,775 B721,151 B55
Additions - 420,648 3,349,177 - 14,550,049 18,715 874
Balance at and of year 57,933,414 169,285,567 4377404 376,871,520 51,403,824 739,871,729
Actumulated Depreciation
Bzlance at haginning of year - 51,153,081 BG,069,105 221,665,662 339 BET B5E
Cepreciaticn e 1,406,572 4,830,474 12,161,830 il 18,388 476
Balance at end of year = 52,559,663 70,889,579 234,827,452 - 358,276,734
Net Carrying Amount P57933414  P116,725904  P134B7A25  R142044028  B51,403824  P3RL,554,355

December 31, 2017
Office
Fumiture, Heavy and
Euliding and Flxtures and  Transportation Construction

Land  Improvements Equipmant Equipment in-progress Total
Cost
Balance at beginning of year F57,933,414 F135,501,310 REZ, 148,260  PA2E844,631 R11,747,667 R1,116,175,282
Additians - 33,363,608 £,324,533 55,965,429 24,706,108 120,350,684
Aeguirad through merger

(Mote 4 = & = 2,062,489 = 2,062,493

Dlsposal = = {7,444,671]  [510,001,039) 5 {517,445,610]
Balance at end of year 57,533,414 168,864,919 81028227 376,871,520 36,453,775 721,151,355
Accumulated Depreciatlon
Balance at beginning of year - 40,079,998 54,165,998 630,525,977 - 724,771,973
Deprecistion - 11,073,093 16,533,178 57,414,362 ad 85,020,633
Dlsposal = = {4,630,071)  [465274,677) - {468,804,748)
Balance at end of vear - 51,153,091 66,069,105 222,665,662 - 339,887,858
et Carrylng Amount R57,%933,414 F117,711 E23 E14,05%,122 R154,205 858 R36,453,775 F381,263,997

Construction-in-progress
completed in 2019,

pertains to on-going mine developments which are expected to he

Heavy and transportation equipment with carrying value of B63.8 million and R92.4 million as at
March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, are held as collaterals for loans payable. In
2017, the Company obtained additional long-term debt with transportation equipment held as
collateral with carrying amount of 1.5 million (see Note 14).

In 2017, the Company disposed of property and equipment with a carrying value of 847.5 rillion,
resulting to loss of 19.5 million (see Note 18). No disposals were made during the first quarter ended

March 31, 2018,

Depreciation is allocated to profit or loss as follows:

Note March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Charged to:
Cost of sales 17 R- 221,473 667
Operating expenses 18 13,979,630 52,866,447
Inventary 4,409,246 -
74,340,114 74,340,114
Capilalized to mine development costs 10 10,680,519 10,680,519
BE85,020,633 BEE,020,633
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Fully depreciated property and equipment with cost of #72.3 million as at March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017 are still being used by the Company and retained in the accounts.

10,

Mining Rights and Other Mining Assets

This account consists of:

March 31, 2018
Mine and Mining Properties
Deferred Mine Mine
Exploration  Development Rehabilitation
Mining Rights Costs Costs Asset Total Tatal
Cost
Balance at beginning of year  B2,935,579,522 R77,835574 R1,383,428,703 42,170,134  P1,425598,337 R4,439,013,933
Additions - - 1,980,532 - - 1,980,532
Balance at end of vear 2,935,579,522 77,835,574 1,385.409,235 42,170,134 1,425,598,837  4,440,994,465
Accumulated Depletion
Balance at beginning of year 310,222,217 - 256,636,424 6,308,513 262,046,037 573,168,254
Deplatian - - - - -
Balance at end of year 310,222,217 - 256,636,424 6,309,613 262,946,037 573,168,254
MNet Carrying Amount R2,625,357,305 R77,B35574 P1,118,772,811  P315,860,521 W1,164,633,332 B3,867 826,211
December 31, 2017
Mine and Mining Properties
Deferrad Mine Mine
Exploration  Development  Rehabilitation
Minlng Rights Costs Costs Assot Total Total
Cost
Balance at beginning of year R1,294, 766,157 B- #1,110,194,730 B42,170,134 #1,152,364 864  B2,447,131,021
Additions = - 273,233,973 - 173,233,973 273,233,571
Acquired thraugh mergar
{Mate 4) 1,640,813,365 77,835,574 - = - 1,718,648 535
Balance at end of year 2,835,579,522  T7.B35574  1,3R3,428703 42,170,134  1,425,598,337 4,439,013 933
Accumulated Cepletian
Balance at beginning of year 250,558,591 - 188,352,511 4,136,456 102,488,507 443,047 558
Depletion 589,663,626 s 68,243,913 2,173,157 70,457,070 130,120,606
Balanee at end af year 310,222,217 - 256,636,424 6,304,613 262,946,037 573,168,354
Met Carrying Amount P2,625,357,305 ®77,835574 P1,126,792 270 15,860,521 #1,162,652,800 B3 BG65,845 679
Mining Rights
Mining rights of the Group consist of:
Mote 2018 2017
Mining rights on explored resources P984,543,940 B984,543,940
Mining rights of BGRC, AMPI and BAR| 4 1,640,813,365 1,640,813,365

P2,625,357,305

B2,625,357,305

Mining Rights of MMDC. Mining rights of MMDC represent the excess of the fair value of shares
issued by the Company over the book value of the net assets of MMDC when the Company acquired
100% ownership in MMDC,

A third party was commissioned for a fairness opinion on the fair and reasonable value of MMDC,
primarily for the explored mineral resources covered by MMDC's MPSA, The assumptions used on
the valuation include, among others, discount rate of 25% and a constant nickel price of US511,000
per metric ton over a ten-year projection period,
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Deferred Exploration Costs

Deferred exploration costs pertains to the capitalized expenditures associated with finding specific
mineral resources such as acquisition of rights to explore, geological and geophysical studies and
exploration drilling and sampling,

Mine and Mining Properties

Mine Developrment Costs. Mine development costs include the costs incurred on an already operating
mine area, Such costs pertain to expenses incurred in sourcing new resources and converting these
into reserves, road developments and developing additional mine yards.

The additions in mine and mining properties include construction of roads, bridges and mine yards,
and depreciation of heavy equipment used for developing additional mine yards and road
improvements amounting to R10.7 million and £9.7 million in 2017 and 2016, respectively
(see Mote 9).

Mine Rehobilitation Asset, Mine rehabilitation asset is the estimated rehabilitation cost of MMDC's
mine site upon termination of MMDC's ore activities, as required in MMDC's MPSA (see Note 13),

11.

Other Noncurrent Assets

This account consists of:

MNote ¢ December 31, 2017

Input VAT R297,996,362 B302,373,370
Advances to a contractor 101,653,122 101,135,441
RCF 5,421,808 5,433,209
MTF 164,076 164,537
Rental deposit 22 416,158 465,959
Others 604,655 2,257,594
R406,257,271 2411,834,110

Advances to contractor are advanced payments made to the contractor to build and operate a nickel
processing plant.

RCF is reserved as part of the Company's compliance with the approved rehabilitation activities and
schedules for specific mining project phase, including research programs as defined in the
Environmental Protection and Enhancement Program.

MTF is exclusively used in activities approved by the Mine Rehabilitation Fund Committee,

Interest income from RCF and MTF amounted to 44,321 in 2017 (see Note 5).
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12, Trade and Other Payables

This account consists of:

March 31, December 31,

Mote 2018 2017
Trade payables R167,442,939 R230,248,768
Advances from custormer 40,268,300 -
Excise tax and other statutory payables 19,913,139 40,576,834
Accrued expenses:
Interest 14 - 138,547
Salaries and wages - -
Others 29,086,326 14,649,017
Others 1,780,807 2,207,748

E258,491,510 R287,820,914

Trade payables primarily consist of liabilities arising from transactions with contractors and suppliers
related to the normal course of business. These are generally noninterest bearing except for a portion
which is bearing interest at 12% per annum. Trade payables are generally on a 90-day credit term.

Other statutory payables include other taxes payable and mandatory contributions. These are
normally settled within one month after the end of the reporting period.

Other accrued expenses include accrual of expenditures for social development management
program as required by the MGB.

Others pertain to advances from a former related party,

13. Provision for Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning
The movements in this account are as follows:

Mote March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Balance at beginning of year R47,707,979 Fd?,?ﬂ?.g?gu
Accretion of interest 14 2,088,831 2,088,831
k49,796,810 49,796,810

A provision is recognized for the estimated rehabilitation costs of the Company’s mine site upon
termination of the Company’s ore extraction activities, which is about 13 years. The provision is
calculated by the Company's engineers based on an estimate of the expected cost to be incurred to
rehabilitate the mine site. The provision is presented at discounted value using the Philippine bond
yield of 4.53% as the effective interest rate.
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14. Loans Payable
This account consists of:

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Short-term loan - MMDC £280,000,000 BED,000,000
Long-term debt;

MMDC #55,921, 808 R56,742,825

BGRC 1,583,091 1,742,257

57,504,989 58,485,082

Less current portion 20,543,949 21,364,876

36,961,040 #£37,120,206

Short-term Loan

MMDC obtained a short-term loan from a local bank to finance working capital requirements, The
short-term loan bears interest rates ranging from 5.00% to 5.50% to be repriced every month has
maturity of not more than one year.

On January 12, 2018, the Company obtained a credit facility limited to B200.0 million. The purpose
of the loan will be used to finance sales contracts or purchase order of the Company. The facility will
be made via Promissory Note (PN) with a term of 60 days. The credit facility is secured by shares of
the Company in MMDC covering 150% of the credit facility limit.

On January 12, 2015, MMDC obtained credit facility amounting to 2200.0 million, 820.0 million and
P100.0 million of which was paid in 2017 and 2015, respectively, and domestic bills purchase line
amounting to #5.0 million from a local bank. The credit facility is secured by the interests and rights
of the Parent Company over 647,692 shares of stocks of MMDC.

Long-term Debt

MMDC

In 2017, the Company obtained a five (5) year promissory note of R1.6 million from a local bank. The
note which is covered by a chattel mortgage on transportation equipment, bears an annual interest
rate of 10.34% and is maturing on July 11, 2022.

The carrying amount of transpartation equipment held as collateral amounted to P1.5 million as at
December 31, 2017 (see Note 9).

On luly 15, 2015, the Company obtained a five (5} year promissary note of R100.0 million from a
financing company. The note which is covered by a chattel martgage on transportation equipment,
bears an annual interest rate of 6% and is maturing on July 15, 2020,

The carrying amount of transportation equipment held as collateral amounted to P63.8 million and
#92.4 million as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively (see Note 9).

In 2013, the Company obtained a three (3) vear loan from a local bank amounting to B1.5 million to
meet working capital requirements. The loan which bears an annual interest rate at 11.81% is secured
by heavy and transportation equipment. The loan was fully settled in 2016.
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BGRC

On June 30, 2016, BGRC obtained secured promissory notes with chattel mortage from a local bank
amounting to #2.6 million. The loans bear a fixed interest rate of 9.02% per annum. The principal and
interest are payabe monthly starting July 30, 2016 until May 30, 2020.

Interest expense of the Company was incurred from the loans payable of the Company.

Interest payable amounted to nil and BO.1 million as at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively (see Note 12).

15,

Equity

Mowvements in this account are as follows:

2018 2017

Authorized capital stock - P1 par value R4,000,000,000 £4,000,000,000
Capital stock
Balance at beginning of year P2,969,088599 R1,821,358,599
Issuance during year:

lssuance 1,125,000,000

Additional subscription by a stockholder 22,730,000

Balance at end of year P2,960,088599 R2,969,088,599
Additional paid-in capital
Balance at beginning of year P239,931,494 £212,655494
Praceeds in excess of par value 27,276,000
Balance at end of year R239,931,494 £239,931,494

On December 29, 2017, the SEC approved the increase in authorized capital stock of the Parent
Company to accommodate the merger, as stated in Note 1, from 2,000,000,000 shares at ®1 par value
to 4,000,000,000 shares at B1 par value a share. Qut of this increase, a total of 1,125,000,000 of the
Parent Company’s common shares were issued to BHI and APMPC shareholders at R1 per share,

In 2017, a stockholder subscribed additional 22,730,000 shares of the Parent Company at 2.2 per share
with the total proceeds of B50.0 million resulting to B27.3 million proceeds in excess of par value,

In 2017, the Parent Company received an advances from a stockholder amounting B75.0 million
intended for future stock subscription.
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Retained Earnings
Cash dividends declared by the Company are as follaws:

Stockholders of

Date Approved Fer Share Total Amaount Record Date Payment Date

On or after
MNovermber 14, 2014 BD.15 B273,203,790  December 19, 2014 January 16, 2015
September 19, 2014 0.15 273,203,790 October 1, 2014

October 22, 2014

Dividends payable amounted to R4.7 million and B5.0 million as at December 31, 2017 and 2018,

respectively.

16. Revenue

This account consists of:

March 31,
2018 2017
Sale of ore B- B51,163,200
Reservation fee for ore allocation - -
R— 851,163,200
17. Cost of Sales
This account consists of:
March 31,
MNote 2018 2017
Contractual services R- F12,833,849
Personnel costs - 11,58868,677
Froduction overhead - 10,105,809
Depletion 10 = 8,222,505
Demurrage costs = i
Excise tax i
Depreciation g ~- 3,026,601
- R46,057,441
MNet rmovement in inventories - (18,201,795)
- B27,855,646

Contractual services pertain to activities directly related to mining.
others, mine extraction, loading, hauling, barging and stevedoring.

The services include, among

Production overhead consists of repairs and maintenance of heavy eguipments, utilities, mining

supplies used, among others.

Demurrage costs are fees charged by the chartered ship for failure to load the mineral ores to ship

within the agreed period.
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Under Section 80 of the Republic Act No. 7942, The Mining Act of 1995, government share in an MPSA
shall be an excise tax of 2.0% on gross output on mineral products.

18. Operating Expenses

This account consists of;

March 31,
Mote 2018 2017

Salaries and allowances R28,217,014 R23,761,245
Taxes and licenses 26,907,943 17,956,529
Depreciation 9 13,979,630 13,045,431
Dutside services 13,727,111 6,461,201
Professional fees 7,713,560 6,218,725
Environmental expenses 22 5,830,250 3,076,151
Directors Fee 4,152,035 3,675,000
Social development program 22 3,824,953 1,514,422
Office supplies 2,551,120 879,227
Representation 1,634,988 4,820,626
Rent expense 22 1,667,997 896,088
Communication, light and water 1,358,029 1,380,517
Community relations 602,752 1,501,415
Repairs and maintenance 474,923 BR8,373
Advertisement 336,840 921,581
Loading fees B 360,000

Moisture penalty - -

Royalties 22 - 537,214

Transportation and travel - -

Retirement benefit expense 20 o =
Others 8,158,308 6,784,071
P121,337,452 £94,281,820

Others include insurance, trainings and seminars, security services, among others,

19. Other Income {Charges) - Net

This account consists of:

Three Months Ended March 31

2018 2017
Foreign exchange gain R424,800 B360,541
Interest income 27,819 30,884
Interest expense {4,409,063) (2,305,122)
Cthers 196,981 711,214

{R3,759,463) (R1,202,479)
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20. Retirement Benefit Liability

The Company has an unfunded, noncontributory defined benefit plan covering all its permanent
employees. Under this plan, the employees are entitled to retirement benefits ranging from 50% to
200% of the final monthly salary for each year of credited service. This plan is in accordance with
Republic Act No, 7641, which mandates a minimum retirement benefit equivalent to one-half month
salary per year of service.

An independent actuary conducted a valuation of the retirement benefit obligation using the
projected unit credit method. The latest actuarial valuation is for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The retirement benefit liability recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2017 and 2016 and changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2018 2017
Balance at beginning of year P36,400,994 B45,939,509
Current service cost - 6,939,581
Met interest cost - 2,473,147
Net actuarial gain - (18,951,243)
Balance at end of year R36,400,994 R36,400,994

The principal actuarial assumptions used to determine retirement benefit for 2018 and 2017 are as
follows:

Discount rates 5.68%
Salary increase rates 5.00%

The plan exposes the Company to actuarial risks, such as interest rate risk and salary risk.

Sensitivity analysis on defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2017 is as follows:

Change in Effect on defined
basis points benefit obligation

Discount rate +100 (R4,127,508)
-100 5,018,453

Salary increase rate +100 5,006,353
-100 (4,175,499)

Each sensitivity analysis on the significant actuarial assumptions was prepared by remeasuring the
defined benefit obligation at the end of each reporting date after adjusting one of the current
assumptions according to the applicable sensitivity increment or decrement (based on changes in the
relevant assumption that were reasonably possible at the valuation date) while all other assumptions
remained unchanged.
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The changes assumed to be reasonably possible at the valuation date are apen to subjectivity, and do
not consider more complex scenarios in which changes other than those assumed may be deemed
mare responsible,

The expected future benefit payments follow:

Financial Year Amount
2018 2,445,076
2019 10,820
1020 13,465
2021 550,785
2022 and after 14,722,072

21.

Related Party Transactions

significant transactions with related parties include the following:

Related Parties under Commaon Management

Transaction Amounts

Qutstanding Balances

Relatad Partias 2018 2017 201E 2017 Nature and Terms
Working fund; unsecured;

Advances te related noninterest-bearing:
pariles R11,B66 R42,828,377 R42,840,243 RA2,.B28,377 payable on demand
‘Waorking fund; unsecured;

Advarces from a related noninterest-bearing;
party R7,344,955 RS, 000,000 ®17,344,955 R10,000,000 payable on dermand

As at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company has not provided any allowance for
impairment losses for amounts owed by related parties. This assessment is undertaken each financial
year through examining the financial position of the related parties and the market in which the
related parties operate.

22,

Commitments

Social and Environmental Responsibility

Social Development Management Programs (SDMIP)

SDMP are five (5) year programs of the projects identified and approved for implementation, in
consultation with the host communities, The Company provides an annual budget for SDMP projects
that focus on health, education, livelihood, public utilities and socio-cultural preservation. The
implementation of the program is monitored by the MGB.

The Company's implemented programs to host communities amounted to R33.1 million,
29,7 million and B26.7 million in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively (see Note 18).
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Environmental Protection and Enhancement Program (EPEP)

EPEP refers to comprehensive and strategic environmental management plan to achieve the
environmental management objectives, criteria and commitments including protection and
rehabilitation of the affected environment. This program is monitored by the Multipartite Monitoring
Team, a group headed by a representative from the Regional MGB and representatives of Local
Government Units {LGU), other government agencies, non-government organizations, the church
sector and the representatives of the Company,

The Company implemented projects amounting to R62.2 million, R34.2 million and B11.4 million in
2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively [see Note 18).

Royalty Agreement

In July 2008, the Company entered into a memorandum of agreement with the Indigenous Cultural
Communities/Indigenous People (ICC/IP) and NCIP whereby royalties equivalent to a certain
percentage of gross revenue shall be paid to the ICC/IP.

Royalty payable presented under “Excise tax and other statutory payables” amounted to
£3.9 million and R1.0 million in 2017 and 2016, respectively. Royalty expense amounted to
R20.4 million, #19.1 million and R23.1 million in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively (see Note 18).

Lease Commitments

The Campany leases an office space for its operations. The lease is for a period of five [5) years and
in 2017 the lease agreement was renewed for two (2) years, Rental deposit amounted to
0.4 million as at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 (see Note 11).

Rental expense charged to operations amounted to 1.7 million and 0.9 million for the period ended
March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The Company has outstanding commitments under noncancellable operating lease that fall due as follows:

2018 2017

Within 1 year R100,000 E100,000
More than 1 year but within 5 years = =
100,000 R100,000

23. Income Taxes

The Company’s net deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences as at March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017 are summarized as follows:

2018 2017

Deferred tax assets:
Retirement benefit liability E8,409,563 BB 409 563
Pravision for mine rehabilitation 1,799,603 1,799,603
Allowance for impairment loss on receivables 1,341,890 1,341,890
11,551,056 11,551,056

Deferred tax liability on unrealized foreign exchange
gain (242,621) (242,621)
R11,308,435 11,208,435
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Management believes that it may not be probable that future taxable profit will be available in the
future against which the benefits of the following deferred tax assets can be utilized Details of
unrecognized deferred tax assets for the period ended March 31, 2018 and December 31. 2017 are

as follows:
NOLCO #8,090,404
MCIT 5,201,000
Retirement benefit liability 2,510,735
£15,802,139
Details of NOLCO of the Parent Company are as fallows:
Year incurred Expiry date Amount Expired Balance
2017 2020 B100,533 - B100,933
2015 2018 26,867,079 - 26,867,079
226,968,012 #— B26,968,012
Details of MCIT of the Parent Company are as follows:
Yearincurred Expiry date Amount Expired Balance
2017 2020 ®1,700,000 B—  R1,700,000
2016 2019 1,800,000 = 1,800,000
2015 2018 1,701,000 - 1,701,000
2014 2017 2,500,000  (2,500,000) =
27,701,000 #=  R5 201,000
24, Earnings Per Share
Earnings per share are computed as follows:
2018 2017
Met income (loss) shown in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income (a) (R125,096,915} (72,176,748)
Weighted average number of common shares
(b} 2,969,088,599 1,821,358,599
Basic earnings {loss) per share (a/h) {RD.04) (RD.04)

The Company does not have potentially dilutive common shares.

25, Contingencies

Cancellation of MMDC’'s MPSA

On February 13, 2017, MMDC received an order from the DENR cancelling its MPSA due to alleged
impairment of the functions of the watershed caused by MMDC's operation, failure to comply with
the penalty of planting three million seedlings and viclation of environment-related laws and
regulations.
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The management and its legal counsel have assessed that the Order is without basis in fact and in law.
Foremost, MMDC is engaged in clean and responsible mining. It has implemented all the necessary
measures to ensure that it is environmentally compliant. While its operation is within a proclaimed
watershed, Presidential Proclamation No. 1747 recognizes its prior legal right to mine in the area
considering that its MPSA was approved in 1993 prior to the issuance of the said proclamation in 2009.

As to the alleged non-compliance to the planting of three million seedlings, MMDC was prevented
from implementing the same due to previous inaction of the DENR, The Company submitted the
program for the tree planting of three million seedlings as early as February 24, 2015, There were
several communications between MMDC and the DENR/MGB regarding this matter. In a letter dated
April 22, 2016, MMDC informed MGE that there is a strong objection from the LGU in the host
communities of MMDC since they will not benefit from the Program as MGE directed MMDC to plant
in different regions. Thereupon, MMDC suggested DENR/MGE ta implement the program through its
National Greening Project to be funded by MMDC, After several follow-ups, on December 21, 2016,
MMDC received a letter from Secretary Lopez dated December 1, 2016 finally directing MMDC to
plant the three million seedlings in its host communities, MMDC immediately coordinated with the
Regional Director of DENR. Hence, an inventory of seedlings available in the area was then made.
Based on the report of DENR Region XIlI, a total of 1,513,928 seedlings are available in the area. To
ensure immediate and proper implementation of the tree planting activity, MMDC entered into a
Memarandum of Agreement with the mayors of the municipalities in its host communities on
February 9, 2017. This action demonstrates MMDC's readiness and willingness to implement
program. Thus, no fault can be attributed to MMDC with regard to the implementation of the three
million seedlings.

With regard to alleged violations of environmental laws and regulations, the DENR failed to specify
the facts and the provisions of law which MMDC allegedly violated.

It bears to note that the Technical Committee Report on MMDC shows only a recommendation for
fine and suspension. Thus, the management strongly believes that the cancellation of MMDC’s MPSA
is unwarranted and should be overturned. Thus, on February 17, 2017, MMDC filed a Notice of Appeal
to the Office of the President. Subsequently, on March 17, 2017, MMDC filed its Appeal
Memaorandum.

The Company has continued mining operations in areas covered by the MPSA {see Note 1.

Show-Cause Orders of BGRC, AMPI and BARI

BGRC, AMPI and BARI received a Show-Cause Orders dated February 13, 2017. In the Show-Cause
Orders, it was alleged that the contract area covered by their MPSAs is within a watershed, such that
if mining operations will be conducted therein, its ecological functions will be im paired.

On February 27, 2017, BGRC submitted a reply to the Show-Cause Orders explaining that BGRC has
prior legal right considering that the BGRC's MPSA was approved on July 1, 1993, while Proclamation
No. 1747 on the proclamation of watershed areas was only issued on March 23, 20009. Notably,
Praclamation No. 1747 provides that prior rights should be respected. Thus, BGRC should be allowed
to continue their operations over their cantract areas.

AMPI and BARI submitted replies that their contract areas are not part of any watershed and are even
declared as Bauxite Mineral Reservations which allows development of bauxite deposits.
Subsequently, AMPI and BAR| obtained certifications from the Forest Management Bureau that their
mining tenements are outside officially designated proclaimed watersheds. This was further
confirmed by the MGB in its letter dated August 10, 2017.
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The management and its legal counsel believe that the alleged violation is without basis in fact and in
law.

26.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

General

The Company has risk management policies that systematically view the risks that could prevent the
Company from achieving its objectives. These policies are intended ta manage risks identified in such
a way that opportunities to deliver the Company's objectives are achieved. The Company's risk
management takes place in the context of day-to-day operations and normal business processes such
as strategic planning and business planning. Management has identified each risk and is responsible
for coordinating and continuously improving risk strategies, processes and measures in accordance
with the Company’s established business ohjectives.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Company’s principal financial instruments consist of cash, loans payable and long-term debt. The
primary purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Company's operations. The Company
has other financial instruments such as trade and other receivables (excluding advances from officers
and employees), RCF, MTF, trade and other payables (excluding excise tax and other statutory
payables), related party receivables and payables and rental deposit, which arise directly from its
operations. The main risks arising from the use of these financial instruments are foreign currency
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. Management reviews and approves the policies
for managing each of these risks which are summarized below.

Foreign Currency Risk. The Company’s foreign exchange risk results primarily from movements of the
Philippine peso against the US dollar with respect to US dollar-denominated financial assets.

The Company’s transactional currency exposures arise from its cash in banks and trade receivables
which are denominated in currencies other than the Company's functional currency. The Company
periodically reviews the trend of the foreign exchange rates to address its exposure in foreign currency
risk.

The following table shows the Company’s US dollar-denominated monetary financial assets and their
Philippine Peso equivalent as at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Philippine Peso Us Dollar Philippine Pesa US Dollar
Current financial assets:
Cash in banks 1,976,433 537,892 F12,730,575 5254,968
Trade receivahles 151,796,368 3,040,184 201,115,654 4,027,952
#213,846,229 54,282,920 £213,846,225 54,282,920

For purposes of restating the outstanding balances of the Company's foreign currency-denominated
financial assets and liabilities as at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the exchange rates
applied were and P49.93 and R49.72 per USS1, respectively.

Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect
future cash flows on the fair values of financial instruments, The Company follows a prudent policy
on managing its assets or liabilities so as to ensure that exposures to fluctuations in interest rate are
kept within acceptable limits.
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The Company’s short-term loan is exposed to changes in market interest rates since the loans are
subject to variable interest rates.

Credit Risk. Credit risk arising from the inability of a counterparty to meet the terms of the Company's
financial instrument is generally limited to the amount, if any, by which the counterparty’s obligations
exceed the obligation of the Company. With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial
assets of the Company, which comprise cash in banks, trade and other receivables and advances to
related parties, RCF, MTF and rental deposit, the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from default
of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments,

The tables below show the credit quality per class of financial assets as at March 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017. The Company does not have financial assets that are past due but not impaired.

March 31, 2018

Melther Past Due nor Impaired
Substandard Past Due but

High Grade  Standard Grade Grade not Impaired Impaired Total

Cash in banks F35,337,387 B= B- [ B- R35,337 387
Trade and other receivables® = 174,748,365 - 11,036,527 185,784,892
Advances to related parties - 42,840,243 - - - 42,840,243
RCF and MTF 5,597,746 - = - - 5,597 746
Rental deposit - 416,158 - e = 416,158
Rda0,935,133 R218,004,766 B P~ R11,036,527 R269,976,426

"Excluding odvonces to officers ond emplovees amounting to R28.5 millian n 2015,

Cecember 31, 2016

Meither Fast Due nos fmpaired

Standard Suhbstandard Egst Due but

High Grade Grade Grade not Imgaired Impaired Total

Cash In barks PAL, 006,584 B f— F- B— Bd6, 906,584
Trade and other receivabies* - 201,115 R54 3,130,074 - 11,036,527 215,282,260
Adveances to related parties - 42, BIBATY = = = 42,828,377
RCF and PATF 5,597,746 - = = = 5,097,746
Rertal de poslt — a5 G50 - - - 465,950
R5Z50M330  R244,400.500 R3,130,07% B F11,036527  R311,080916

*Exciuding gdvances Lo officers and empioyees omteunting to B28.5 million in 2017,

The credit quality of the financial assets is managed by the Company using internal credit quality
ratings. High grade accounts consist of recelvable from debtors with good financial condition and
with relatively low defaults, Financial assets having risks of default but are still collectible are
considered standard grade accounts. Receivables that are still collectible but require persistent effort
from the Company to collect are considered substandard grade accounts,

Cash in banks, RCF and MTF are classified as high grade since these are deposited in reputable banks
having good credit rating and low probability of insolvency.

The Company trades only with recognized, creditworthy third parties. It is the Company’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, trade and other receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the
Company’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
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The table below set forth the estimated change in the Company's income befare tax to a reasonahly

possible change in the market prices of loans payable brought about by reasonably possible change
ininterest rates as at December 31, 2017.

Increase/Decrease in

Interest Rate Effect on Income before Tax
December 31, 2017 +3.32% B985, 239
-3.32% {98,239)
December 31, 2016 +4,15% F184,947
-4.15% (184,947)

Liguidity Risk. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility. Treasury controls and procedures are in place to ensure that sufficient cash is
maintained to cover daily operational and working capital requirements, including debt principal and
interest payments. Management closely monitors the Company’s future and contingent obligations

and sets up required cash reserves and reserve borrowing facilities as necessary in accordance with
internal policies.

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at March 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017, based on contractual undiscounted payments, Loans payable consist
of principal and estimated future interest payments,

Less than Three to Within More than
On Demand three manths six months One Year ane year Total
Merch 31, 2018
Trade and other
payables® Fa7,040,143 R57,364,621 F27,338,187 B- R14,786,315 P196,529,265
Dividends payable = = - - -
Loans payable** - 200,000,000 99,895 824 - - 2048, 895,824
Advances from a related
party - 10,000,000 - = = 10,000,000
RO7,040,143  F257,364,621 F127,234,011 R B14,786,315 Rd406,425,089
December 31, 2017
Trade and other
payables* F234,750,256 F11,355,277 F— - - R247,105,533
Dividends payable - - - 4,707,886 - 4,707,886
Laoans payakle®™* 80,000,000 5,665,080 5,865,080 11,767,917 3B,123,471 141,621,548
Advances from a related
party - 10,000,000 - = = 10,000,000
#3114, 750,256 R2B,220,357 RS, 865,080 F16,475 803 #35,123,471 B403,434,967

"Excluiding exclse tox ond arher statutony pevables amaunting o #40.6 miillan gnd £35.1 miitlan as of Gecernber 31, 2017 ond 2016, respectively,
*including interest papable up to maturity amounting to P49 miliien and 8.5 million os of December 21, 2017 and 2015, respectively,

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liahilities
Fair value is defined as the amount at which the financial instrument could be exchanged in a current

transaction between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in
forced or liguidated sale,
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Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Company’s
financial instruments that are carried in the consolidated financial statements:

2018 2017
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value
Cash F35.765.138 B35.765.138 R47,062,535 R47,062,535
Trade and other receivables® 1E8.255.021 188.255.021 204,245,733 204,245,733
Advances to related parties 421.840.243 42.840.243 42,828,377 42,828,377
RCF and MTF 5,597,746 5,597,746 5,587,746 3,597,746
Rental deposit 416,158 416,158 455,959 465,959

RB272,874,306 R272,874,306  R300,200,250  #300,200,350

*Exchading pavonces to afficers and employees omounting to #1182 milion and §25.55 milion os ot Morch 33, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respaciively.

2018 2017
Carrying Value Falr Value Carrying Value Fair Value
Trade and ather payables* R198,310,072 #198,310,072 R247,105533  E247,105,533
Dividends payable 4,707,886 4,707,886 4,707,886 4,707,886
Loans payable 337,504,989 337,504,988 138,485,082 142,593,120
Advances from a related party 17,344,955 17,344,955 10,000,000 10,000,000

R557,867,902 ®557,8B67,902  R400,298,501  R404,406,539

*Exchading excise tox ond ather statutary payalles amounting to P40.6 miilan and £35,1 mithon a5 ol December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively,

Cash, Trade and Other Receivables, RCF and MTF, Advances to Related Parties, Trade and Other
Payobles, Dividends Poyable. and Advances from o Related Party Due to the short-term nature of
transactions, the fair values approximate the amount of consideration at reporting period.

Rental Deposit. The fair value of rental deposit has not been determined using observable market
data because management believes that the difference between fair value and carrying amount
would not be significant.

Loans Payable and Long-term Debt. Estimated fair values have been calculated on the instruments’
expected cash flows using the prevailing PDST-R2 rates that are specific to the tenor of the
instruments' cash flows at reporting dates (Level 2).

27.

Capital Management Objectives, Policies and Procedures

The Company's capital management objectives are to ensure the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern and to provide an adegquate return to shareholders by pricing products and services
commensurate with the level of risk. The Company manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in the light of changes in economic conditions. The Company monitors its capital
using debt to equity ratio. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or by conversion of related party advances to an equity component
item,

There were no changes in the Company's objectives, policies or processes in 2018 and 2017,
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28. Notes to Statements of Cash Flows

The table below details changes in the liabilities and equity of the Company arising from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

MWoncash Changes

Balance as at Cash Flows
December 31, from Financing Balance as at
Mote 2017 Activities Interest expense March 31, 2018
Capital stock B2,969 088,555 = B= #2,969,088,599
APIC 239,531,494 - - 230,931,454
3,209,020,093 - - 3,209,020,063
Loans payable 14 138,485,082 195,015,908 - 337,504,990
Accrued interest 14 138,547 14,547 ,610) 4,408,063 =
138,623,629 194,472 298 4,408,063 337,504,990
Dividends payable 4,707,886 - - 4,707,886

Deposit for future

stock subscription 75,000,000 - - 75,000,000

B3,427,351,608 - #4,409,063 B3,626,232,069
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Gross Expense
Non-Operating Income

Non-Operating
Expense

Income/(Loss) Before
Tax

Income Tax Expense

Net Income/(Loss) After
Tax

Net Income Attributable
to
Parent Equity Holder

Earnings/(Loss) Per
Share
(Basic)

Earnings/(Loss) Per
Share
(Diluted)

0
649,600

125,746,515

-125,096,915
0
-125,096,915

-125,096,915

-0.04

-0.04

Earnings/(Loss) Per Share (Basic)

Earnings/(Loss) Per Share (Diluted)

Other Relevant Information

None.
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